**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals**

**APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

**Appellate Case No. 2019-001065
Dorchester County Case No(s). 2019-CP-18-0677 and 2017-CP-18-1816**

In Re: The Estate of Doris Duane Colucci

**Michael C. Fox, Named Personal Representative
in the Last Will of Doris Duane ColucciAppellant,**

v.

**Andrew W. Chandler, in his capacity as Special
Administrator of the Estate of Doris Duane Colucci,
Michael C. Fox, Successor Trustee of the
Colucci Living Trust, dated February 24, 2005,
Michael Fredrick Antonio Colucci, John Martin Antonio,

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err, both substantively and procedurally, in finding that Fox should not remain as Personal Representative because he was not the best qualified to serve?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in dismissing an appeal from Probate Court, despite it being timely filed and from an order South Carolina law recognized as appealable?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err by failing to grant injunctive relief or otherwise hold a hearing on injunctive relief?
- IV. Did the Probate Court have the authority to lift the automatic stay and did the Circuit Court err by failing to review it?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is the appeal of the contested appointment of a special administrator and a personal representative.

Doris and Ivo Colucci were a married couple residing in Dorchester County. (R. p. 1). They moved to South Carolina in the 1970s, opening and operating a profitable jewelry store. (R. p. 523). During their time together, they purchased commercial real estate throughout the tri-county area. (Id.)

In 2005, the couple had engaged an estate attorney and established an extensive estate plan. (R. pp. 101-10; 823-953). Mrs. Colucci executed a pour-over will (hereinafter referred to as the “Last Will”), without a power of sale and with a strong no-contest clause, that devised all assets to the Colucci Living Trust (hereinafter referred to as the “Trust”). (R. pp. 106; 108-109). The Coluccis amended the Trust again on June 18, 2013. (R. pp. 935-52).

Ivo Colucci killed Doris Colucci on April 14, 2017. (R. p. 113). In the aftermath, Ivo Colucci was taken into custody and ruled incompetent due to severe dementia. (R. pp. 113-14). Ivo Colucci has remained under the care of Christa Yantis, a conservator, ever since. (R. p. 6).

With Doris Colucci deceased and Ivo Colucci incapacitated, the two principals of the family business and properties were gone, creating an issue of managing the many family assets. Other family members acted to establish a representative. (R. pp. 90-99). An attorney who briefly represented two of Doris Colucci's children, Lester Schwartz, filed an Application for Appointment of Special Administrator on May 3, 2017. (Id.) This application revealed the existence of the Doris Colucci's Last Will, identifying the document by date, but the contents were not presented to the court and the location listed as unknown. (Id.)

The Court denied Mr. Schwartz's application and instead, Judge Mary Blunt ("Judge Blunt"), appointed Andrew Chandler, Esq., to be Special Administrator, (hereinafter, the "Temporary Order") pursuant to S.C. Code § 62-3-614. (R. pp. 1-4). This order was in place "unless and until," the Last Will could be found. (R. p. 1). Under this order Mr. Chandler was appointed to "preserve the estate, to secure its proper administration, and to protect its assets." (R. p. 2).

On July 10, 2017, the Dorchester County Probate Court signed a consent order that granted Chandler the powers under Part 7 of the Probate Code pursuant to § 62-3-617. (R. p. 4). This order established a fee structure for Chandler, stated that Ivo Colucci was now under a conservatorship, but also permitted Andrew Chandler to retain a personal injury attorney. (R. pp. 5-13). While this order acknowledges the existence of Doris Colucci's will, it proceeds to re-appoint Chandler as Special Administrator. (Id.) Despite Chandler's and the Court's knowledge that a copy of the will was available, the named Personal Representatives (Fox, Henry Burkes, and Richard Hyman) were not made parties to, served with, or made aware of the formal application. This order also to find that Doris Colucci died intestate or that any effort was made to locate the will. (Id.) Furthermore,

this order adopts the same language as the June 9, 2017 Temporary Order that the intestate succession rules shall only apply “unless and until” the Last Will is located. (R. p. 5).

On, July 24, 2017, the Dorchester County Probate Court, pursuant to its July 10, 2017 order signed, an additional order to permit the Special Administrator to hire Rosen & Hagood with the association of Lester Schwartz, Esquire, to pursue a wrongful death case against Ivo Colucci. (R. pp. 14-16). This Order established a contingency fee to be split between Rosen & Hagood and the original attorney for Doris Colucci’s children, Lester Schwartz, as well as an hourly fee structure. (R. p. 16).

One month later, on August 24, 2017, Doris Colucci’s Last Will was delivered to the Dorchester County Probate Court. (R. p. 111). On September 13, 2017 the Dorchester County Probate Court sent a letter to several parties notifying them that the Last Will, “has been added to the file, just as a matter of record.” (*Id.*) It did not advise the Appellant, Michael C. Fox, that he was named both as the next Successor Personal Representative and as the next successor Trustee of the Colucci Family Trust. (*Id.*)

Michael Fox had been a close family friend of the Colucci’s and their bookkeeper for over forty years. (R. p. 431). Fox was familiar with the Colucci’s business and their real estate companies. (R. pp. 431-32). Considering this, he decided to take on the Trusteeship of the Trust. (R. p. 225). Schwartz would resign as counsel, but retained his fee interest “as counsel” in the wrongful death suit.

Meanwhile, Chandler filed an Information to Heirs and Devisees on August 4, 2017 as notice of his formal appointment. (R. p. 101). The notification was only sent out to Ivo Colucci, Michael Antonio Colucci, John Martin Antonio, and David Haller, attorney for Ivo Colucci’s

conservator. (Id.) This notice excluded the Trust, Michael Fox, Henry Burkes, and Richard Hyman. (Id.)

On October 24, 2017, Fox filed an Application for Informal Testacy and Informal Appointment as Personal Representative of the Estate of Doris Colucci. (R. pp. 147-55). Without any findings of fact, the Dorchester County Probate denied informal probate of the will and any informal appointment of a representative. (Id.)

In response, Fox filed for formal probate of the will and for appointment of representative. (R. pp. 156-66). In addition, Fox filed for removal of the determination of the validity of the Last Will and the Appointment of the Special Administrator to the Court of Common of Pleas. (R. p. 167). While all other parties agreed to accept service of the formal petition, Chandler did not. (R. p. 187). All of the interested parties (under intestate proceedings and under the Last Will) were served before December 15, 2017. (R. pp. 184-200).

Fox learned that Chandler intended to sell some of the Estate's jewelry. Concerned, Fox wrote Chandler's attorney and in response, on November 4, 2017, Chandler's attorney wrote to Fox via his attorney and stated that, "until there is an order admitting the will to probate, the estate will continue to be administered as if it were intestate per the code." (R. p. 263).

On November 11, 2017, the Special Administrator filed an Answer and Objection to Fox's Petition. (R. pp. 170-83). Among his other objections, the Special Administrator argued that appointment of a named Personal Representative "would frustrate judicial economy and prejudice the Estate and others with unnecessary cost, delay, and duplication of efforts," and that "there is no requirement that a Personal Representative even be appointed." (R. pp. 177-78). Further, the Special Administrator stated that Michael Fox is unsuitable and therefore not qualified to serve

and that, “he will be called on to make an accounting for his acts and doings with reference to the work he performed for the Colucci’s and their businesses.” (R. p. 178).

During the period from Chandler filing his objections on November 30, 2017, Chandler sold nearly every asset belonging to the estate of Doris Colucci; in effect, a complete liquidation. (R. pp. 136-40; 551; 487-91; 507-10). Chandler did not communicate his attempts to do this to Fox, nor did he seek any written order of the court to do so. (Id.) Most critically, these assets included multiple income producing commercial properties that were to fund the Trust’s income over the coming decades. (Id.)

A hearing was held on August 13, 2018, in the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas for Formal Appointment and Testacy. (R. pp. 708-34). Chandler was the only party that objected to the appointment of a Personal Representative. Counsel for the Special Administrator stated: “The fact of the matter is a Personal Representative never has to be appointed. The Will can be admitted to Probate without a Personal Representative being appointed.” (R. p. 718). However, in reference to the Successor Personal Representative’s disqualification, counsel stated:

And I want to make it clear to the Court and to Mr. Fox that our objection has nothing to do with his character, calling into question his character; it is nothing to that extent at all.

[O]ur objection is because first of all this estate has been administered by Mr. Chandler and to some extent myself as his attorney for over 14 months at this point.”

(Id.) The Special Administrator directly addressed the court in regard to Mr. Fox and stated:

But the things that remain are complicated and frankly ones that -- and I’m not saying that Mr. Fox wouldn’t otherwise be capable of doing them but he is also a witness to many of them. And in those cases typically the Probate Court is going to appoint a Special Administrator anyway and then you have two fiduciaries serving, which definitely seems inefficient and unnecessary.

(R. p. 723). The hearing concluded with the Special Administrator consenting to probate the Last Will of Doris Colucci, but continuing to object to the appointment of a Personal Representative.

(R. p. 732). By order dated August 27, 2018, the Circuit Court admitted the Will to Probate. (R. pp. 32-34). The appointment of a personal representative was taken under advisement. (R. p. 732).

Following the August 13, 2019 hearing, Fox was unaware of the extent of Chandler's sales of property and had no notice that the Dorchester County Probate Court had directed a liquidation. (R. pp. 432-32).

With no resolution regarding the appointment of a Personal Representative, concerns mounting that Chandler was selling assets, and clear indications that Chandler intended to freeze out Fox (and the other named Personal Representatives out of the Estate), on November 26, 2018, Fox moved in the Circuit Court to Restrain the Special Administrator. (R. pp. 250-75). The Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas did not set a hearing within the ten-day period nor did it schedule a hearing at any point on Fox's Motion to Restrain.

Concerned by the delay at the Circuit Court, as well as appointment under Section 62-3-615, on January 4, 2019, Fox filed the same Motion to Restrain in the Dorchester County Probate Court and moved for the removal of the issue to the Circuit Court. (R. pp. 279-81; 250-75). The Probate Court denied the motion to remove the Petition to Restrain to the Circuit Court and instead set the matter for an emergency hearing. (R. pp. 42-58).

On January 9, 2019, the Emergency hearing for Fox's Petition was held in the Probate Court. (R. pp. 735-803). At the hearing, during Chandler's direct examination, Chandler stated that he had spoken with the Dorchester County Probate Court the day before on the telephone. (R. p. 761). Neither the judge nor Chandler elaborated further on the content of this conversation except to say that it involved "scheduling." (Id.) Chandler did explain that he was "not an attorney"

in this matter and was free to speak privately the day before with the judge conducting the hearing. (Id.) Fox's motion to restrain was denied and Fox was personally sanctioned \$10,000.00 by a Probate Court order dated February 7, 2019. (R. pp. 42-58). On February 8, 2019, Chandler filed a supplemental Motion to Dismiss with Circuit Court. (R. pp. 955-58).

On February 13, 2019, at 8:45 A.M., the Dorchester County Court of Common Pleas formally appointed Fox as the Personal Representative. (R. pp. 59-51). The Court further directed Fox to, "ensure that there has been no waste, abuse, or fraud." (R. p. 60). This Order additionally dismissed Fox's motion to restrain as moot. (Id.)

Hours after the February 13, 2019 order was issued, Elizabeth Palmer, Esq., Chandler's attorney from Rosen & Hagood, submitted an invoice for an unpaid balance of \$6,301.72 to the Dorchester County Probate Court. (R. p. 296). This invoice was never submitted to Fox nor was he made aware of it outside of court filings. (R. pp. 303-304). Additionally, Chandler never attempted to make the funds available to Fox to pay the alleged invoice. (R. p. 304). Instead, Palmer attached the invoice as an exhibit to an Emergency Application to Restrain the Personal Representative and Appointment of a Temporary Special Administrator in the Probate Court. (Id.) At 2:38 P.M., that same day, Probate Court ordered that Fox be temporarily restrained and Chandler be reappointed as the temporary special administrator. (R. pp. 62-70). In response, on February 22, 2019 Fox moved in the Probate Court to Amend the February 13, 2019 Emergency Orders. (R. pp. 337-41; 347-51). Neither motion been heard or explicitly ruled upon.

On February 14, 2019, Fox, based on Chandler's actions, moved the Circuit Court for a Rule to Show Cause. (R. pp. 303-305). While the Court of Common Pleas would request a jurisdictional memorandum, it ultimately chose not to grant a hearing. (R. pp. 433-37; 451-52; 82-84).

After the expiration of the Emergency Orders, on April 17, 2019, the Probate Court issued another order, this time extending Fox's Restraint as Personal Representative for an additional six months and reinstalling Chandler as the Special Administrator. (R. pp. 72-77).

Fox appealed the April 17, 2019 Order, along with ten other Probate Court orders to the Court of Common Pleas. (R. pp. 453-55).

Meanwhile, Fox filed a motion for reconsideration on February 22, 2019, but this motion has not been heard or explicitly ruled on. (R. pp. 352-58). Ivo Colucci filed a Motion in Support of Reconsideration in which he admits that no one was more trusted to the Coluccis than Michael Fox and states that the Probate Court had ordered the liquidation of the Estate. (R. pp. 507-10). Chandler thereafter filed a motion for reconsideration on February 28, 2019. (R. pp. 359-82).

On May 1, 2019, Chandler moved to lift the automatic stay imposed by the appeal of the Probate Court order. (R. pp. 479-483). Without any hearing, on May 10, 2019, the Dorchester County Probate Court lifted the automatic stay and Chandler proceeded to settle the wrongful death suit against Ivo Colucci for \$700,000.00. (R. pp. 78-81).

In response, on May 15, 2019, Fox moved the Court of Common Pleas for a Writ of Supersedeas and also requested review of the Probate Court's lift of the automatic stay. (R. pp. 492-99). The Court of Common Pleas scheduled a May 30, 2019 hearing for Fox's Petition for Writ of Supersedeas, Fox's Rule to Show Cause, and Chandler's Motion for Reconsideration. (R. p 535).

On May 21, 2019, the Court of Common Pleas sent an email and requested that Fox and Chandler submit their respective qualifications to serve as personal representative and special administrator, respectively. (R. p. 429). Additionally, Ivo Colucci filed a memorandum in support

of Chandler's Motion to Alter or Amend, Colucci stated that the Probate Court had ordered the Estate to be "liquidated." (R. p. 509).

On May 28, 2019, the Circuit Court amended its February 13, 2019 Order, finding Fox unqualified to serve as Personal Representative, barring Fox from seeking any further appellate relief, and ruling that the February 13, 2019 order did not remove Chandler as Special Administrator. (R. p. 82). Additionally, the Circuit Court denied Fox's Writ of Supersedeas and declined to review the Probate Court's lift of the automatic stay. (R. p. 88). On May 29, 2019 the attorney for Michael A. Colucci and John M. Antonio contacted the Circuit Court to confirm that the May 30, 2019 hearing was cancelled. Judge Dickson's law clerk responded, stating:

In light of the orders that were filed yesterday, tomorrow's hearing is cancelled. In accordance with the orders, the Probate Court now has sole jurisdiction over the case and it cannot be removed to Circuit Court until the case ends.

(R. p. 429). Fox timely appealed the May 28, 2019 orders. (R. pp. 549-50).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

All decisions in this matter are equitable or otherwise reviewed de novo, with this Court taking its own view of the preponderance of the evidence and deciding any questions of law without deference to the lower court. See Blackmon v. Weaver, 366 S.C. 245, 248, 621 S.E.2d 42, 43 (Ct. App. 2005) ("An action to remove a personal representative is equitable in nature."); accord Church v. McGee, 391 S.C. 334, 705 S.E.2d 481 (Ct. App. 2011); Skipper v. Perrone, 382 S.C. 53, 674 S.E.2d 510 (Ct.App. 2009) (de novo review of equitable actions); Matter of Estate of Kay, 423 S.C. 476, 481, 816 S.E.2d 542, 545 (2018) (de novo review of circuit court review of probate actions).¹

¹ Even if any decisions in this appeal are subject to abuse of discretion review, questions of law may be decided with no particular deference to the lower court. Neely v. Thomasson, 365 S.C. 345, 350, 618 S.E.2d 884, 886 (2005).

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erred, both substantively and procedurally, in finding that Fox should not remain as Personal Representative because he was not the best qualified to serve.

The cardinal rule in trusts and estates law is that the intent of the testator must prevail whenever possible. Wilson v. Dallas, 403 S.C. 411, 453, 743 S.E.2d 746, 769 (2013) (Toal, J. concurring) (citing Johnson v. Thornton, 264 S.C. 252, 257, 214 S.E.2d 124, 127 (1975)).

[A]ll presumptions are in favor of the claimant to whom the statute gives a preference, and letters should be granted to such claimant, unless the testimony is so strong as to produce an abiding conviction that such grant would practically defeat, rather than promote, the ends of administration

Ex parte Small, 69 S.C. 43, 48 S.E. 40, 41 (1904). The qualifications set forth in the Code to serve as a personal representative are minimal: a prospective personal representative must be (1) over the age of eighteen, (2) not found by the court to be unsuitable in formal proceedings, (3) not a foreign corporation, and (4) the probate judge within their jurisdiction (with some exceptions). S.C. Code Ann § 62-3-203(e). If qualified, the person nominated by a power conferred in a will, has priority among all others to be appointed. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-203(a)(1). “[T]here is a strong deference shown to the personal representative chosen by the testator. ‘The Courts have ever been reluctant to take the management of an estate from those to whom it has been confided by the testator, for to that extent the intention expressed in his will would be defeated.’” Blackmon, 366 S.C. at 251, 621 S.E.2d at 45 (quoting Smith v. Heyward, 115 S.C. 145, 164, 105 S.E. 275, 282 (1920)).

After the Will was filed with the Probate Court, both the Circuit Court and the Probate Court had numerous opportunities to determine whether Fox was unsuitable and hold him as such.²

² Fox was also named as first successor trustee for the Colucci Living Trust, sole devisee of the Will. On October 27, 2017, Fox accepted the trusteeship of the Trust and has served in that capacity since. (R. p. 225).

The Probate Court never made any findings of fact regarding Fox's suitability nor did it ever make any holdings regarding his suitability.³ (R. pp. 147-55; 42-58; 62-70; 78-21). Likewise, the Circuit Court never found Fox unsuitable in formal proceedings⁴. To the contrary, the Circuit Court found that Fox was qualified on February 13, 2019. (R. p. 60). Even after the Circuit Court reversed its February 13, 2019 Order on May 28, 2019, it once again, did not find that Fox was unsuitable. (R. pp. 82-83). Instead, the Circuit Court held that Fox, "is not *the best qualified* person to be the Personal Representative for this estate." (R. p. 83) (emphasis added).

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