THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
DEC 30 2019
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
First Judicial Circuit

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001065
Dorchester County Case Nos. 2019-CP-18-0677 and 2017-CP-18-1816

In Re: The Estate of Doris Duane Colucci,

Michael C. Fox, Named Personal Representative in the Last
Will of Doris Duane Colucci.....Appellant,

v.

Andrew W. Chandler, Esquire, in his capacity as Special
Administrator of the Estate of Doris Duane Colucci,
Michael C. Fox, Successor Trustee of the Colucci Living Trust,
Dated February 24, 2005, Michael Frederick Antonio Colucci, John Martin Antonio,

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

The following arguments present additional reasons, appearing in the record, that the circuit court's denial of the nine probate court orders should be affirmed. I'On, LLC, 338 S.C. at 420-21, 526 S.E.2d at 723 (respondent, as prevailing party in the lower court, may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court, although basis for respondent's additional sustaining grounds must appear in the record on appeal).

i. 10/24/17 Order Denying Informal Probate

This order denied Appellant's Application for Informal Probate, seeking the informal probate of the purported Will and appointment as personal representative. The Probate Code establishes that this is not a final order. See S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-305 ("A declination of informal probate is not an adjudication and does not preclude formal probate proceedings.").

However, even if a final order, the circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal of this order should be sustained for at least two reasons. First, the appeal was untimely. A notice of appeal from an order of the probate court must be served and filed on all parties not in default within ten days after receipt of written notice of the order appealed from. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(a). The timely service of the notice of appeal is a jurisdictional requirement, without which appellate courts lack the authority to hear and decide cases. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon

Properties S.C., LLC, 422 S.C. 211, 220, 810 S.E.2d 856, 861 (2018). An email providing written notice of entry of an order or judgment triggers the time to appeal as long as the email is received from the court, an attorney of record, or a party. Id. at 217, 810 S.E.2d at 859. Appellant received notice of the order on October 24, 2017, via email from the probate court. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 1.) His notice of appeal was not served until April 18, 2019, and is, therefore untimely.

Second, as acknowledged by Appellant in his brief, this issue is moot because Appellant thereafter filed a Formal Petition for Testacy and Appointment which he removed to circuit court and on which the circuit court has ruled. Wallace v. City of York, 276 S.C. 693, 694, 281 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1981) (“The function of appellate courts is not to give opinions on merely abstract or theoretical matters, but only to decide actual controversies injuriously affecting the rights of some party to the litigation. Accordingly, cases or issues which have become moot or academic in nature are not a proper subject of review.”).

ii. 10/26/17 Order to Sell Personal Property

This order granted the application filed by Respondent requesting the probate court’s permission to sell items of personal property belonging to the Decedent, specifically, a ring and a watch. The circuit court’s dismissal of this order should be affirmed because, if a final order, the appeal was untimely. Additionally, the issue is moot, not preserved for appeal, and Appellant lacks standing to appeal it.

First, if the order was a final order, Appellant’s appeal was untimely. Appellant received written notice of the entry of the order before November 20, 2017, as evidenced by his reference thereto in his Application to Restrain Special Administrator (11/20/17 App. to Restrain, ¶ 24). His notice of appeal was not filed until April 18, 2019.

Second, this issue is moot. As shown in settlement statements, the ring and watch were both sold in 2018 in arms'-length transactions with an unrelated third-party buyer. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 3.)

Third, Appellant lacks standing to appeal this order because he did not raise any objections to the probate court. See Tupper v. Dorchester Cty., 326 S.C. 318, 324, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997) (issue preservation requires "that the objection in the trial court must have been made by the party who raises the issue in the appellate court."). Although Appellant filed an Application to Restrain Special Administrator, seeking to prevent Respondent from selling the personal property at issue, he later filed a "Motion to Withdraw [sic] Application to Restrain Special Administrator" which was granted by the probate court. (11/20/17 App. to Restrain; 2/20/18 Mot. to Withdraw; 2/23/18 Order.)

Finally, Appellant failed to preserve this issue for appeal. None of the arguments made by Appellant were ruled upon by the probate court. See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.").

iii. 7/30/18 Order Authorizing Sale of Real Estate

This order granted the petition filed by Respondent requesting the probate court's permission to sell real property which was jointly owned by the Decedent and her husband at the time of her death, specifically, a beach house on Edisto Island. The circuit court's dismissal of this order should be affirmed because the appeal was untimely, Appellant lacks standing, and no issues regarding this order were preserved for appeal.

The Edisto house was owned by the Decedent and her husband as joint tenants with right of survivorship. (5/22/19 Resp. Opp. to Emerg. Pet. for Writ of Super., p. 4, Ex. 3 – Deed.) As such, upon Decedent’s death, the property became the sole property of her husband, and the Estate, as a matter of law, ceased to have ownership. Because Appellant, as a named alternate personal representative (or even as trustee of the Trust, sole devisee of the Estate), has no interest in that property, he cannot be aggrieved by the order authorizing its sale. See Rule 201(b), SCACR (limiting the ability to appeal to “[o]nly a party aggrieved by an order, judgment ... or decision...”); Beaufort Realty Co. v. Beaufort Cty., 346 S.C. 298, 301, 551 S.E.2d 588, 589–90 (Ct. App. 2001) (“A party cannot appeal from a decision which does not affect his or her interest, however erroneous and prejudicial it may be to some other person’s rights and interests.”).

Additionally, Appellant failed to raise any objections to the probate court concerning this order and, therefore, did not preserve any issues for appeal with regard to that order. Appellant now argues that the probate court erred because “the Trust, sole devisee of the Estate, was never served with the Petition to Sell Real Estate.” (App. Brief, p. 25.) Even if this argument were preserved for appeal, it would fail because counsel for Appellant, who is also the Trustee of the Trust, was served with the petition both by email and regular mail. (3/20/19 email from Davis to Garrett and attached Petition to Sell Real Estate.)

Finally, Appellant’s appeal of this order was untimely. Appellant has represented in a pleading filed on January 4, 2019, that he had obtained a copy of the probate court’s entire file, over 700 pages, which certainly included a copy of this particular order. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 4, ¶ 38.) He did not file his notice of appeal until April 18, 2019.

iv. 8/27/18 Modified Order for Appointment of Special Administrator

The probate court entered this order, *sua sponte*, after the circuit court probated the Will and took the issue of Appellant's appointment as personal representative under advisement. The circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal of this order should be affirmed because, if a final order, Appellant's appeal is untimely. Appellant received written notice of the entry of the order on August 27, 2018, and did not file his notice of appeal until April 18, 2019. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 5.)

It appears that Appellant's argument concerning his appeal of this order is that S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-615 mandated that the probate court appoint him as special administrator rather than reaffirming Respondent's appointment as special administration. That argument was neither raised nor ruled upon in connection with the probate court's issuance of this order and is not preserved for appeal. Regardless, the argument lacks merit. The section cited by Appellant, S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-615, concerns the appointment of a special administrator "pending the probate of a will which is the subject of a pending application or petition for probate." That was not the case here, where the circuit court had already admitted the Will to probate.

Finally, this issue is moot. Even if this Court were inclined to rule on whether or not the probate court erred in entering the order, as opposed to whether or not the circuit court erred in dismissing Appellant's appeal of the probate court's order, that ruling would have no effect. This is because intervening events, i.e., the later orders appointing Respondent as special administrator, have rendered this issue nonjusticiable. Sloan v. Greenville Cty., 356 S.C. 531, 552, 590 S.E.2d 338, 349 (Ct. App. 2003) ("A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy.").

v. 1/15/19 Order Authorizing Distribution from Estate

This order granted Respondent's Application for Hearing to Approve Distribution, which sought the probate court's approval to distribute \$10,000.00 to the Trust, the sole devisee of the Estate. (11/20/18 App. for Hearing to App. Dist.) The circuit court's dismissal of this appeal should be affirmed.

First, if a final order, the appeal was untimely. Appellant received notice of the order on January 16, 2019, but did not file his notice of appeal until April 18, 2019. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 6.)

Second, Appellant was present at the hearing, and not only did he fail to object to the Application, he, through his counsel, agreed that the amount distributed should be increased to \$100,000.00. (1/9/19 Transcript of Hearing on App. for Hearing to App. Dist., pp. 18-20.) Therefore, the issue was not preserved for appeal and Appellant lacks standing to appeal this issue because he raised no objections to the probate court.

Third, any argument as to the merits of his appeal of this order are conclusory at best and should be deemed abandoned. Solomon, 262 S.C. at 202, 203 S.E.2d at 435 (conclusory argument is deemed abandoned). The circuit court's dismissal of this appeal should be affirmed.

vi. 2/7/19 Order Denying Appellant's Petition for Removal of Special Administrator

This order denied Appellant's Petition for Removal of Special Administrator and, pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-111, ordered Appellant to pay the Estate's attorneys' fees and costs in defending the Petition. (2/7/19 Order Denying Pet. for Removal of Spec. Admin.) The circuit court's dismissal of this appeal should be affirmed.

First, if a final order, the appeal was untimely. Appellant received notice of the order on February 7, 2019, but did not file his notice of appeal until April 18, 2019. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 8.)

Second, if this Court is inclined to look to the merits of Appellant's appeal of this order, as opposed to the propriety of the circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal, it appears that Appellant argues that the probate court erred in finding that Appellant had properly collected and distributed the Estate's assets because "neither the Probate Court nor [Respondent] had the authority to sell property that rightfully belonged to the Trust." (App. Brief, p. 28.) Regardless, that argument was not raised nor ruled upon by the probate court and is, therefore, not preserved for appeal. The circuit court's dismissal of the appeal of this order should be affirmed.

vii. 2/13/19 Order for Appointment of Temporary Special Administrator

If a final order, the circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal of this order must be affirmed on the basis that the appeal was untimely.⁵ Appellant received written notice of the entry of this order on February 13, 2019, but did not file a notice of appeal until April 18, 2019. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 10.)

Additionally, it appears that the only argument made by Appellant to this Court concerning this order is that no "emergency" existed as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614(2). (App. Brief, p. 30.) Although Appellant filed both a "Return to Emergency Application for Appointment of Temporary Special Administrator" and a "Motion to Amend Findings by the Court and Motion for Relief from Order or Judgment," this argument was not made in either filing. (2/22/19 Ret. to App. for Restraint of PR; 2/22/19 Mot. to Amend. Findings.) As such, even if this Court were inclined to reach the merits of Appellant's appeal of this order, as

⁵ Appellant has arguably conceded the point that this, and the 2/13/19 Temporary Order Restraining General Personal Representative, were final orders. He argues that the 4/17/19 Order for Temporary Restraint of General Personal Representative, which both temporarily restrained Appellant as personal representative and ordered that Respondent continue to serve as temporary special administrator, is a final order. (App. Brief, p. 23.) Following that logic, the 2/13/19 Order for Appointment of Temporary Special Administrator, as well as the 2/13/19 Temporary Order Restraining General Personal Representative, are also final orders. As such, the appeals are untimely.

opposed to the propriety of the circuit court's dismissal of the appeal of the order, the only argument made by Appellant was neither raised to nor ruled upon by either the probate court or the circuit court and, therefore, was not preserved for appeal, either in this Court or the circuit court.

Finally, with the circuit court's denial of Appellant's Petition for Appointment, the issue of whether the probate court erred in appointing Respondent as temporary special administrator (in the interim between the circuit court's initial order granting his Petition for Appointment and its May 28, 2019, order reconsidering and denying the Petition for Appointment) is moot. See Sloan, supra.

viii. 2/13/19 Temporary Order Restraining General Personal Representative

If a final order, the circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal of this order must be affirmed on the basis that the appeal was untimely. Appellant received written notice of the entry of this order on February 13, 2019, but did not file a notice of appeal until April 18, 2019. (4/30/19 Mot. to Dismiss Appeal, Ex. 10.)

Additionally, it appears that the only argument made by Appellant to this Court concerning this order is that no "emergency" existed as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614(2). (App. Brief, p. 30.) Although Appellant filed both a "Return to Emergency Application for Restraint of Personal Representative" and a "Motion to Amend Findings by the Court and Motion for Relief from Order or Judgment," this argument was not made in either filing. (2/22/19 Ret. to App. for Restraint of PR; 2/22/19 Mot. to Amend. Findings.) As such, even if this Court were inclined to reach the merits of Appellant's appeal of this order, as opposed to the propriety of the circuit court's dismissal of the appeal, the only argument made by Appellant was

neither raised to nor ruled upon by either the probate court or the circuit court and, therefore, was not preserved for appeal, either in this Court or the circuit court.

Finally, with the circuit court's denial of Appellant's Petition for Appointment, the issue of whether the probate court erred in temporarily restraining Appellant as personal representative (in the interim between the circuit court's initial order granting his Petition for Appointment and its May 28, 2019, order reconsidering and denying the Petition for Appointment) is moot. See Sloan, supra.

ix. 4/17/19 Order for Temporary Restraint of General Personal Representative

This order was issued by the probate court after its Review Hearing for its February 13, 2019, Temporary Order Restraining General Personal Representative. The order both extended the restraint of Appellant as general personal representative (for a period of six months) and indicated that Respondent would continue to serve as the temporary special administrator of the Estate.

As noted above, the circuit court dismissed Appellant's appeal of this order, apparently on the basis that it lacked appellate jurisdiction because it is not a final order. However, even if a final order, the circuit court's dismissal of Appellant's appeal of this order should be affirmed.

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